
	

	

April 2, 2018 
 

BY CERTIFIED MAIL 
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

 
Glenda Owens 
Acting Director 
Office of Surface Mining 
Reclamation and Enforcement 
1849 C St. NW   
Washington, D.C. 20240   
 
Re: Citizen Complaint Under Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act Over Tri-

State Generation and Transmission Association’s Self-bonding in Colorado and 
Wyoming 

 
Dear Ms. Owens: 
 

Pursuant to the U.S. Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act (“SMCRA”), 30 
U.S.C. §§ 1267(h)(1) and 1271(a)(1), and regulations thereunder, 30 C.F.R. § 842.12(a), 
WildEarth Guardians hereby writes to inform the U.S. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation 
and Enforcement (“OSMRE”) that violations of SMCRA appear to be occurring in the states of 
Colorado and Wyoming, and that these violations be inspected and remedied. 

 
Specifically, it appears that reclamation bonding requirements under SMCRA are not 

being met with regards to operations at permitted coal mines that are self-bonded by Tri-State 
Generation and Transmission Association, Inc. (hereafter “Tri-State”).  Tri-State is the full or 
partial guarantor for self-bonds at the New Horizon and New Horizon North coal mines in 
Colorado (Permit Nos. C-1981-008 and C-2010-089), the Colowyo coal mine in Colorado 
(Permit No. C-1981-019), and the Dry Fork coal mine in Wyoming (Permit No. PT0599).  
Attached, for example, is the company’s self-bonding documentation for the Colowyo coal mine.  
See Exhibit 1.  In total, Tri-State purportedly guarantees more than $120,000,000 in self-bonds. 

 
Tri-State Self-bonding Amounts 

 Coal Mine Permit No. Self-bond Amount 
Colowyo C-1981-019 $95,517,829 
Dry Fork PT0599 $14,700,000 
New Horizon C-1981-008 $5,300,000 
New Horizon North C-2010-089 $5,254,691 
 TOTAL $120,772,520 



	 2	

 
 

Unfortunately, according to Tri-State’s own financial reports, the company does not 
appear to currently guarantee the full amount of these self-bonds.  Consequently, the New 
Horizon, New Horizon North, Colowyo, and Dry Fork coal mines appear to be operating without 
adequate bonding in violation of 30 C.F.R. § 800.4(g).  Under SMCRA regulations, if a company 
fails to post an adequate bond, it must “cease coal extraction.” 30 C.F.R. § 800.16(e)(2).  Below, 
we provide a written statement of the apparent violations necessitating inspections and 
appropriate action. 

 
 
I. BACKGROUND 
 

Under SMCRA, before a company can mine coal, they are required to post bonds 
covering the full cost of reclamation in case mining operations are abandoned prior to the 
completion of reclamation. See 30 U.S.C. § 1259 and 30 C.F.R. § 800.11. Although normally, 
companies post surety bonds or offer collateral to ensure the costs of reclamation can be covered, 
SMCRA allows companies to post self-bonds, or corporate guarantees. See 30 C.F.R. § 800.23. 
Self-bonds are essentially agreements between companies and regulatory authorities where the 
mining companies, or another guarantor, guarantee to cover the costs of reclamation, but do not 
actually provide direct funds, collateral, or third-party guarantees to cover such costs.  See 30 
C.F.R. § 800.5(c) (defining a self-bond as an “indemnity agreement” between permit applicants, 
any guarantor, and the regulatory authority).   

 
Regulatory authorities are not required to allow self-bonding and have complete 

discretion to reject applications from companies to self-bond.  See 30 C.F.R. § 800.23(b).  If a 
regulatory authority allows self-bonding, it can only do so if the guarantor has allocated 
sufficient funds to cover the bond obligation.  As a self-bond is an “indemnity agreement in a 
sum certain,” it requires a guarantor to demonstrate that it is, in fact, capable of paying the full 
cost of the bond in the event that mining operations are abandoned.   

 
Furthermore, self-bonding can only allowed where a company meets all of certain criteria 

set forth at 30 C.F.R. §§ 800.23(b)-(e). Among other things, certain financial conditions must all 
be met, including that the company seeking to be self-bonded must: 

 
● Have an “A” rating or higher for its most recent bond issuance, as issued by Moody’s 

Investor Service or Standard and Poor’s Corporation; 
 

● Have a net worth of at least $10 million or fixed assets in the U.S. of at least $20 million, 
a ratio of total liabilities to net worth of 2.5 times or less, and a ratio of current assets to 
current liabilities of 1.2 times or greater; and 

 
● Ensure that the total amount of self-bonds do not exceed 25% of the company’s, or 

guarantor’s, net worth in the United States. 
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30 C.F.R. §§ 800.23(b)(3) and (d).  If a company cannot demonstrate that these criteria are not 
met, a company is not allowed to self-bond its mining operations. 
 
 
II. TRI-STATE’S FAILURE TO ACCOUNT FOR SELF-BONDING 
 

In the case of Tri-State, there is no indication that the company has properly accounted 
for its self-bonding guarantees and that it has demonstrated it meets the criteria for self-bonding 
set forth under 30 C.F.R. §§ 800.23(b)(3) and (d).  In the company’s most recent 10-K report to 
the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, there is no indication that the liabilities 
associated with its self-bonding have been accounted for as actual liabilities.  In turn, this 
indicates that Tri-State has failed to demonstrate that it is capable of paying the full cost of its 
reclamation bond in the event that its mining operations are abandoned.  This further indicates 
that Tri-State has not demonstrated it meets the financial criteria for self-bonding under 30 
C.F.R. §§ 800.23(b)(3) and (d).  

 
In the company’s most recent 10-K report for the year 2017, Tri-State states that, “In 

connection with our use of coal derived from coal mining facilities in which we have an 
ownership interest, including the Colowyo Mine, New Horizon Mine, Trapper Mine, Dry Fork 
Mine, and Fort Union Mine, we have obligations for certain reclamation activities mandated by 
state and federal laws. These liabilities are recognized and recorded on our financial statements 
when required by accounting guidelines.”  Exhibit 2, Tri-State Generation and Transmission 
Association, Inc., “2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K,” at 11.  Upon review of Tri-State’s 2017 
10-K, however, there is no indication that its self-bonding obligations have actually been 
accounted for as liabilities.  Self-bonding is not explicitly identified in the company’s statement 
of liabilities and in fact, self-bonding is not even mentioned in the company’s entire 10-K. 

 
Although the company identifies “Asset Retirement Obligations” among its liabilities in 

its 10-K, which supposedly includes full reclamation of all of its facilities, these obligations 
amounted to only $53,396,000 at the end of 2017.  See Exhibit 2 at 56.  This is far less than Tri-
State’s more than $120 million in self-bonding obligations at the Colowyo, New Horizon, New 
Horizon North, and Dry Fork mines.   

 
Furthermore, Tri-State acknowledges in its 2017 10-K that its Asset Retirement 

Obligations only considered reclamation costs for the Colowyo, New Horizon, and New Horizon 
North mines.  See Exhibit 2 at 69.  Thus, to the extent that Tri-State has accounted for any 
reclamation liabilities at all, the company does not actually appear to have accounted for any 
self-bonding obligations for the Dry Fork mine.  

 
While Tri-State supposedly guarantees its self-bonds, the fact that its official financial 

filings do not account for self-bonding liabilities indicates these guarantees lack tangible 
financial backing and that the company’s guarantees are, in fact, shams. 

 
This raises further questions over whether Tri-State has demonstrated it truly meets the 

financial criteria set forth at 30 C.F.R. §§ 800.23(b)(3) and (d).  Without explicitly accounting 
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for self-bonding liabilities, the company has failed to properly account for its net worth and has 
misinformed credit rating agencies, likely leading to an inaccurate credit rating. 

  
 

III. VIOLATIONS OF SMCRA 
 

Where there is reason to believe that a violation of SMCRA exists, OSMRE is required to 
notify the state regulatory authority pursuant to 30 C.F.R. § 842.11(b)(1)(ii)(B). Where a state 
fails to respond within 10 days, or otherwise fails to take appropriate action, OSMRE must 
conduct an inspection of mining operations. If a violation is found as a result of an inspection, 
OSMRE must issue a “notice of violation” pursuant to 30 C.F.R. § 843.12(a) to remedy the 
violations.   

 
Based on the aforementioned information, there is reason to believe that violations of 

SMCRA are occurring with regards to Tri-State’s self-bonding of coal mining operations at the 
New Horizon and New Horizon North coal mines in Colorado (Permit Nos. C-1981-008 and C-
2010-089), the Colowyo coal mine in Colorado (Permit No. C-1981-019), and the Dry Fork coal 
mine in Wyoming (Permit No. PT0599).  According to Tri-State’s own financial filings, the 
company has not accounted for liabilities associated with its self-bonding.  Consequently, if Tri-
State were to abandon its coal mining operations today, it does not appear that the company is in 
a financial position to ensure that guaranteed bond amounts can and/or will be forfeited.   

 
Furthermore, based on the company’s failure to account for the liabilities of self-bonding, 

it does not appear that Tri-State has accurately demonstrated that it meets the financial criteria 
for self-bonding under 30 C.F.R. §§ 800.23(b)(3) and (d).  By failing to properly account for the 
full liabilities of self-bonding, Tri-State has failed to properly assess its tangible net worth and 
failed to accurately inform credit rating agencies.  

 
Given this, Tri-State has failed to demonstrate that it qualifies for self-bonding pursuant 

to 30 C.F.R. § 800.23.  The company has failed to properly account for its self-bonding liabilities 
and has therefore failed to demonstrate that it has actually guaranteed its self-bonds for the 
Colowyo, Dry Fork, New Horizon and New Horizon North coal mines.  This company has 
further failed to demonstrate that it qualifies for self-bonding in accordance with 30 C.F.R. §§ 
800.23(b)(3) and (d).   

 
Accordingly, OSMRE must direct the States of Colorado and Wyoming to conduct an 

inspection to determine whether Tri-State is, in fact, violating federal self-bonding regulations at 
30 C.F.R. § 800.23 and take appropriate action.  If the states refuse to conduct an inspection or 
fail to take appropriate action, then OSMRE must conduct its own inspection and take 
appropriate action. 
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IV. CONCLUSION 
 
 We look forward to a timely response from OSMRE to this complaint. Thank you for 
your time and attention to this matter. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 

Jeremy Nichols 
Climate and Energy Program Director 
WildEarth Guardians 
2590 Walnut St. 
Denver, CO 80205 
(303) 437-7663 
jnichols@wildearthguardians.org  

 
cc (by certified mail, return receipt requested):  
 
David Berry 
Western Regional Director 
U.S. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement 
1999 Broadway, Suite 3320 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
Ginny Brannon 
Director 
Colorado Division of Reclamation Mining and Safety 
1313 Sherman St., Suite 215 
Denver, CO 80203 
 
Kyle Wendtland 
Administrator 
Wyoming Land Quality Division 
200 West 17th St., Suite 10 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 
 

 


